## Characterization of Dextransucrase and Branching Sucrase of

Apilactobacillus kunkeei DSM 12361

by

Clement Niyirora

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

in

Food Science and Technology

Department of Agricultural, Food and Nutritional Science University of Alberta

© Clement Niyirora, 2023

#### Abstract

Glycoside hydrolase family 70 (GH 70) glucan sucrases have various applications in both food and non-food industries. This study reports the characterization of two GH70 enzymes, dextransucrase and branching sucrase, of Apilactobacillus kunkeei DSM 12361 on a range of acceptor substrates. GtfZ of A. kunkeei DSM 12361 possesses two catalytic domains, CD1 and CD2, which are interconnected by a glucan binding domain (GBD). For this study, dextransucrase CD1-GBD is a combination of the first catalytic domain CD1 with GBD, while branching sucrase GBD-CD2 is composed of GBD combined with the second catalytic domain CD2. In addition to sucrose as the sole substrate, CD1-GBD was active when dextran was available as an acceptor substrate. It was also found that CD1-GBD was active on reuteran and modified potato amylose. GBD-CD2 was also active on various substrates such as dextran, reuteran, and modified amylose, which proves the ability of GBD-CD2 to introduce branches on polymer chains with different linkage types. The activity of CD1-GBD and GBD-CD2 showed a preference for  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6) glycosidic linkage in the acceptor substrate. The ability of CD1-GBD and GBD-CD2 to act on starch-derived molecules, such as potato amylose, is crucial in synthesizing polymers at a low cost. The activity on a wide range of substrates increases the options for producing polymers with different properties.

#### Preface

This thesis is an original work by Clement Niyirora.

The cloning part for the chimeric enzymes was performed by Dr. Julia Bechtner, who provided the constructs GBD-GtfZ, SBD-GtfZ, GtfZ-A, and GtfZ-B for further analysis. Yuqi Shao provided the clone for the branching enzyme GlgB, and I conducted protein expression and further analysis related to my research. The strains carrying gtfa used in this study were obtained from the lab 2-50 strain collection and were previously cloned by Dr. Xiao Yan Chen. All laboratory work and data analysis presented in this thesis were completed under the supervision and guidance of Dr. Michael Gänzle.

I would like to dedicate this thesis to my family, particularly my mother, Valérie Mukundwangendo, whose love, guidance, and unrelenting belief in my abilities have been the foundation of my success.

#### Acknowledgement

I would like to extend my sincere appreciation to all the people who have contributed to the successful completion of this thesis.

I would like to start by thanking my supervisor, Dr. Michael Gänzle, for his unwavering support, invaluable guidance, and expert insights throughout my graduate studies. His deep knowledge and experience in the field have been instrumental in shaping my research and pushing me to achieve my best. I would also like to thank my committee member, Dr. Lynn McMullen, for her insightful feedback and constructive criticism throughout the entire process. Her expertise in the field has been invaluable in helping me refine my research and develop my critical thinking skills.

I would like to express my appreciation, especially to my mentor, Dr. Gautam Gaur, for helping me get started with my project and being there to answer any questions. I am grateful to lab 2-50 members for their constant support and encouragement. Their stimulating discussions and constructive feedback have been a driving force in shaping my research and sharpening my analytical skills. I am also thankful for their friendship and camaraderie, which have made my time in the lab truly enjoyable.

I would also like to express my gratitude to the faculty and staff of the department for providing a challenging and stimulating academic environment. Their passion for teaching and research has inspired me to pursue excellence in my own work.

Finally, I would like to acknowledge my family and friends for their unwavering support and encouragement throughout my academic journey. Their love, understanding, and support have been a constant source of motivation and inspiration. In conclusion, I would like to express my sincere thanks to everyone who has contributed to this thesis in one way or another. Thank you for your support, guidance, and encouragement.

# **Table of Contents**

Abstract ii
Prefaceiii
Acknowledgement
Table of Contents
List of Tablesix
List of Figures x
List of Abbreviations xi
1 Introduction
1.1 LAB Glucansucrases, Branching Sucrases and Glucanotranferases
1.1.1 Glucansucrases and Branching Sucrases Catalytic Mechanism
1.1.2 Dextransucrases and Products
1.1.3 Branching sucrase
1.2 LAB Glucanotransferases
1.3 Applications: Hydrocolloids, oligosaccharide synthesis, dietary fibre, pharmaceutical
applications
1.4 Knowledge Gap
1.5 Hypotheses and Objectives
2 Materials and methods

	2.1	Bacterial growth condition and DNA isolation15
	2.2	Cloning and transformation15
	2.3	Protein extraction and purification
	2.4	Enzyme activity assays
	2.5	Polysaccharide purification
	2.6	Product Analysis by NMR
	2.7	Statistical Analysis
3	Res	sults
	3.1	Cloning and protein purification of dextransucrase, branching sucrase, chimeric
	gluca	nsucrases and glucanotransferases
	3.2	Activity of dextransucrase, branching sucrase and reuteransucrase with different
	accep	tor polymers
	3.3	Polysaccharides <sup>1</sup> H NMR Analysis
4	Dis	cussion
5	Ap	plication
В	ibliogr	aphy

# List of Tables

Table 1 Characterized GH70 enzymes from CAZy database and publications.	. 4
<b>Table 2.1</b> Primers used in cloning of GtfZ of A. kunkeei DSM12361.	17
<b>Table 2.2</b> Substrates used in enzymatic reactions and their corresponding linkage types	22

# List of Figures

Figure 1.1 Reactions catalyzed by LAB glucansucrases and branching sucrases
Figure 1.2 Reactions catalyzed by LAB glucanotransferases
Figure 2.1 Linear representation of domains in GtfZ
Figure 2.2 Linear representation of domain swapping
Figure 3.1 SDS-PAGE of CD1-GBD and GDB-CD2
Figure 3.2 Dextransucrase activity
Figure 3.3 Branching sucrase activity
Figure 3.4 Reuteransucrase activity
Figure 3.5 Dextransucrase activity on reuterans
Figure 3.6 Branching sucrase activity on reuterans
Figure 3.7 Reuteransucrase activity on reuterans
Figure 3.8 <sup>1</sup> H NMR-GtfA incubation with sucrose and modified amylose
Figure 3.9 <sup>1</sup> H NMR-GtfA incubation with sucrose
Figure 3.10 <sup>1</sup> H NMR-GtfA incubation with sucrose and dextran

# **List of Abbreviations**

<sup>1</sup> H NMR	Proton Nuclear Magnetic Resonance
ANOVA	Analysis of Variance
BLAST	Basic Local Alignment Search Tool
CD	Catalytic Domain
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
EFSA	European Food Safety Authority
GBD	Glucan Binding Domain
GH	Glycoside Hydrolases
IPTG	Isopropyl β-D-1-thiogalactopyranoside
LAB	Lactic Acid Bacteria
mMRS	Modified de Man, Rogosa & Sharpe
Ni-NTA	Nickel-Nitrilotriacetic Acid
PCR	Polymerase Chain Reaction
QPS	Qualified Presumption of Safety
SDS-PAGE	Sodium dodecyl sulfate-Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis

#### 1 Introduction

Historically, fermentation was performed for preservation purposes and for improving organoleptic properties of food (Hutkins, 2018). Specifically, lactic acid fermentation has been used for thousands of years (Siedler et al., 2019) and lactic acid bacteria (LAB) are important in this fermentation for enzymatic conversion of the original food to a final product with preferred properties such as improved texture, flavor, and nutritional value (Baruah & Goyal, 2022; Marco et al., 2017). All these functions of LAB are not only linked to the production of lactic acid but also to their ability to form other compounds including but not limited to exopolysaccharides (EPS) (Torino et al., 2015).

LAB produce EPS and form biofilms to adapt to adverse environmental conditions, however studies have proven their potential for application in the food industry (Baruah & Goyal, 2022; Han et al., 2016). Interestingly, EPS from EPS-forming microbes that are used in food fermentations, strains of the genera *Limosilactobacillus*, *Lactobacillus*, *Lactococcus*, *Latilactobacillus*, *Lactiplantibacillus*, *Lentilactobacillus*, *Lacticaseibacillus*, *Fructilactobacillus*, *are* not included as additives on the food label because these LAB have been granted a Qualified Presumption of Safety (QPS) by the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA 2021) (Koutsoumanis et al., 2022). As a result, EPS producing cultures have been widely used in various fermented foods. For example, in yogurt EPS contribute to the thickness and smoothness enhancement (Han et al., 2016), and in sourdough production, EPS improves rheology, shelf life and the volume of the bread (Lynch et al., 2018; Xu et al., 2020).

EPS produced by LAB are structurally classified as homopolysaccharide (HoPS) and heteropolysaccharides (HePS). The main difference between these EPS is the composition of the monosaccharides. HoPS are composed of multiple monosaccharide units of a single type. However, HePS have more than one type of monosaccharide unit linked together (Mozzi et al., 2006). Most HoPS from LAB are synthesized extracellularly from sucrose as a donor molecule by glycansucrases of bacteria such as Lactobacillus, Leuconostoc, Streptococcus, Weissella, Liquorilactobacillus, Limosilactobacillus and Apilactobacillus using (Moulis et al., 2006; Torino et al., 2015). HoPS are divided into two categories, glucans and fructans. Glucans are made of glucose molecules linked together by  $\alpha$ -linkages, whereas fructans are fructose linked with  $\beta$ -linkages (Monsan et al., 2001). Depending on whether glucan or fructan is being synthesized, glycansucrases are termed glucansucrases or fructansucrases respectively (Cantarel et al., 2009). The linkage type available in the polysaccharide chain can also be used to classify as glucosidic or fructosidic. A typical example of HoPS composed of glucosidic linkages is dextran with predominantly  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6) glucosidic linkage. Inulin is an example of HoPS with fructosidic linkages where it has  $\beta$ -(2 $\rightarrow$ 1) fructosidic linkages (Van Kranenburg et al., 1999).

In addition to EPS production, LAB, especially species of the genus *Limosilactobacillus* colonize the gastrointestinal tract of humans and other vertebrates (Duar et al., 2017; Frese et al., 2011). *Limosilactobacillus reuteri* is one species of this genus and its strains have been isolated from humans, ruminants, pigs, mice, chicken and turkey. The ability of *Lm. reuteri* to colonize intestinal tract have attracted exceptional attention due to its positive contribution to gut health (Oh et al., 2010; Walter et al., 2011). *Lm. reuteri* adheres to the mucin and intestinal epithelia and studies have proven that some stains are capable of attaching to gut epithelial cells (Li et al., 2008). This attachment and persistence in the intestinal tract of the host is assisted by a range of

factors including but not limited to biofilm formation (Frese et al., 2013) and the capability of *Lm. reuteri* TMW1.106 biofilm formation and cell aggregation are dependent on the production of the reuteransucrases GtfA *in vivo* (Walter et al., 2008). The ability for LAB to colonize has been linked to production of glucansucrases. In water kefir, *Lentilactobacillus hilgardii* synthesizes dextran to form kefir granules (Hu et al., 2017). *Streptococcus mutans* glucansucrase has been reported to form dextran-based biofilms to colonize the oral cavity of humans (Fernandes et al., 2017).

#### 1.1 LAB Glucansucrases, Branching Sucrases and Glucanotranferases

LAB glucansucrases have been characterized because of their applications in synthesis of important polysaccharides used in food and non-food industries (Baruah & Goyal, 2022; Bounaix et al., 2009; Patel et al., 2012). These enzymes are named after their products  $\alpha$ -glucan, and their activity can be assisted by branching sucrases. Branching sucrases are responsible for introducing branches to a linear  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6) linked glucan mainly dextran which results in highly branched polymers (**Figure 1.1**) (Vuillemin et al., 2016). Branching sucrases and glucansucrases belong to glucoside hydrolase 70 family (GH 70) and are known to use sucrose as a substrate to synthesize complex carbohydrate structures (Brison et al., 2012; Moulis et al., 2006; Robyt, 1995). Glucanotransferases are also classified as GH 70, but they belong to their own subfamily. They share similarities with glucansucrases of the same family however they are inactive on sucrose. These enzymes are known to use starch as substrates to synthesize  $\alpha$ -glucan (Bai et al., 2015).

As of December 2022, a total of 972 GH 70 enzymes were recorded on the CAZY database (<u>http://www.cazy.org/GH70.html</u>) however only fifty-nine have been characterized (**Table 1**). This number is still small; however, there are other enzymes of this family that are not reported

on the CAZY database even though they are available in literature (**Table 1**). The most studied glucansucrase in the GH70 family is dextransucrases because of their applications in industry, but still there are others such as reuteransucrases, mutansucrases, and alternansucrases. Dextransucrases synthesize dextran with mostly  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6) linkages in their main chain but can also contain various branching points (Robyt, 1995). Reuteransucrases have been reported to produce reuterans that are water soluble glucan with mainly  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 4) linkages with a significant amount of  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6) and  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 4,6) glycosidic linkages (Kralj et al., 2005; Kralj, van Geel-Schutten, van der Maarel, et al., 2004). Mutansucrases are responsible for the formation of water insoluble mutans with predominantly  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 3) linkages (Z. Chen et al., 2021). Alternansucrases synthesize alternan that contains alternating  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6) and  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 3) linkages (Bounaix et al., 2009).

**Table 1** Characterized GH70 enzymes from CAZy database and publications. They are sorted by specificity and then by genus and species.

Enzyme	Organism	GenBank	Specificity	Reference
GTF-0	Lm. reuteri	AAY86923.1	Reuternasucrase	(Kralj et al., 2005)
GTF-A	Lm. reuteri	AAU08015.1	Reuternasucrase	(Kralj et al., 2002)
ASR	Ln. mesenteroides	CAB65910.2	Alternansucrase	(Arguello-Morales et al., 2000)
ASR	Ln. citreum	AIM52834.1	Alternansucrase	(Wangpaiboon et al. NP)
GET-MI 1	Im routori	A A I 108004 1	Mutansucrase	(Kralj, van Geel-Schutten,
OI I-IVILI	Lm. reuteri	AAC00004.1	Wittansuerase	Dondorff, et al., 2004)
GTF-I	S criceti	BAF62338 1	Mutansucrase	(Shinozaki-Kuwahara et al.,
011 1	5. 0110011	D/H 02550.1	Mullibuolube	2008)
GTF-I	S. downei	AAC63063.1	Mutansucrase	(Ferretti et al., 1987)
GTF-SI	S. mutans	BAA26114.1	Mutansucrase	(Bowen & Koo, 2011)
GTF-B	S. mutans	AAA88588.1	Mutansucrase	(Shiroza et al., 1987)
CTE E	C originia	DAE(2227 1	Mutanauanaa	(Shinozaki-Kuwahara et al.,
011-1	S. Orisuis	DAF02337.1	Mutansucrase	2008)
GFT-L	S. salivarius	AAC41412.1	Mutansucrase	(Simpson et al., 1995)
GTF-J	S. salivarius	AAA26896.1	Mutansucrase	(Simpson et al., 1995)
GTF-I	S. sobrinus	BAA02976.1	Mutansucrase	(Sato et al., 2009)
DSR	Lb. animalis	CCK33644.1	Dextransucrase	(Rühmkorf et al., 2013)
GTE Ka3	Ib formantum	A A LIOROOR 1	Dextransucrase	(Kralj, van Geel-Schutten, van
OTT-Kg5	LD. Jermenium	AAU08008.1	Dextransucrase	der Maarel, et al., 2004)
GTE-33	I h narabuchnari	A A U08006 1	Dextransucrase	(Kralj, van Geel-Schutten, van
011-55	Lo. purubuchneri	AAC00000.1	Dexualisaciase	der Maarel, et al., 2004)
GTF-Kg15	Lb. sakei	AAU08011.1	Dextransucrase	(Kralj, van Geel-Schutten, van

Enzyme	Organism	GenBank	Specificity	Reference
				der Maarel, et al., 2004)
CTE 190	Im noutoni	A A T TOROO 1 1	Doutronguorogo	(Kralj, van Geel-Schutten, van
011-100	Lm. reuleri	AA006001.1	Dexualisuctase	der Maarel, et al., 2004)
DSR106.1	Lm. reuteri	ABP88725	Dextransucrase	(Rühmkorf et al., 2013)
DSR-B	Ln. citreum	AAB95453.1	Dextransucrase	(Monchois et al., 1998)
DSR-A	Ln. citreum	AAB40875.1	Dextransucrase	(Monchois et al., 1996)
DSR-X	Ln. mesenteroides	AAQ98615.2	Dextransucrase	(Yalin et al., 2008)
DSR-T	Ln. mesenteroides	BAA90527.1	Dextransucrase	(Funane et al., 2000)
DSR-S	Ln. mesenteroides	AAD10952.1	Dextransucrase	(Monchois et al., 1997)
DSR-P	Ln. mesenteroides	AAS79426.1	Dextransucrase	(Olvera et al., 2007)
DSR-D	Ln. mesenteroides	AAG61158.1	Dextransucrase	(Neubauer et al., 2003)
DEX-YG	Ln. mesenteroides	ABC75033.1	Dextransucrase	(Zhang et al., 2008)
GTF-S	S. downei	AAA26898.1	Dextransucrase	(Gilmore et al., 1990)
GTF-G	S. gordonii	AAC43483.1	Dextransucrase	(Vickerman et al., 1997)
GFT-D	S. mutans	AAA26895.1	Dextransucrase	(Shimamura et al., 1994)
GTF-R	S. oralis	BAA95201.1	Dextransucrase	(Fujiwara et al., 2000)
GTF-M	S. salivarius	AAC41413.1	Dextransucrase	(Simpson et al., 1995)
GTF-K	S. salivarius	CAA77898.1	Dextransucrase	(Simpson et al., 1995)
CTE D	C	DAE42700 1	Denterroren	(Kralj, van Geel-Schutten, van
GIF-P	S. sanguinis	BAF43/88.1	Dextransucrase	der Maarel, et al., 2004)
GTF-U	S. sobrinus	BAC07265.1	Dextransucrase	(Hayakawa et al., 1993)
GTF-I	S. sobrinus	BAA14241.1	Dextransucrase	(Hoshino et al., 2012)
GTF-T1	S. sobrinus	AAX76986.1	Dextransucrase	(Hanada et al., 1993)
DSR-WC	W. cibaria	ACK38203.1	Dextransucrase	(Kang et al., 2009)
DSR-C39-2	W. confusa	CCF30682.1	Dextransucrase	(Amari et al., 2013)
DSR-E	Ln. citreum	CAD22883.1	Dextransucrase + $\alpha$ -1-	(Fabre et al., 2005)
			2 Branching sucrase	
GtfZ	Ap. kunkeei	KRK22577.1	Dextransucrase + $\alpha$ -1-	(Meng, Gangoiti, Wang, et al.,
	1		3 Branching sucrase	2018)
BRS-A	Ln. citreum	CDX66896.1	$\alpha$ -1,2 branching	(Passerini et al., 2015)
			sucrase	
BRS-B	Ln. citreum	CDX65123.1	$\alpha$ -1,3 branching	(Vuillemin et al., 2016)
			a-1.3 branching	
BRS-C	Ln. fallax	WP_010006776.1	sucrase	(Vuillemin et al., 2016)
			α-1 2 branching	
BRS-D	Ap. kunkeei	WP_051592287.1	sucrase	(Vuillemin et al., 2016)
			$\alpha$ -1.2 branching	
GBD-CD2	Ln. citreum	CAD22883.1	sucrase	(Brison et al., 2010)

#### 1.1.1 Glucansucrases and Branching Sucrases Catalytic Mechanism

Enzymes belonging to the GH70 family are known to mainly catalyze transglucosylation reactions using a mechanism referred to as double displacement. The first reaction is the formation of a  $\beta$ -D-glucosyl-enzyme intermediate from sucrose. This intermediate compound is a

result of aspartate nucleophile which attacks the anomeric carbon of the glucosyl unit. This nucleophilic attack is assisted by the acid-base catalyst glutamic acid that donates a proton to fructosyl moiety, resulting in a release of fructose and formation of  $\beta$ -D-glycosyl-enzyme and followed by the stabilization of covalent intermediate by a third aspartate. The second step involves the obstruction of the intermediate by either a water molecule or the hydroxyl group of the acceptor substrate and this results in hydrolysis or transglucosylation, respectively. Other than hydrolysis, the transfer of a glycosyl group can be on sucrose itself, on fructose which results in formation of sucrose isomers, or on an introduced hydroxylated acceptor substrate. The formation of the polymer is due to multiple transfer of glycosyl groups to the non-reducing end of the  $\alpha$ -glucan chain (**Figure 1.1**) (MacGregor et al., 1996; Mooser et al., 1991; Moulis et al., 2006).

For branching sucrases, transferase activity is present when dextran is available, otherwise only hydrolytic activity will be predominant. If case fructose is available in excess, branching sucrases can transfer to fructose to form leucrose (Moulis et al., 2006). Various glucansucrases have shown the ability to form polymers. For example, ASR from *Ln. citreum* NRRL B-1355 and DSR-S from *Ln. citreum* NRRL B-1355 synthesize polymer by transferring glycosyl unit to glucose or sucrose resulting in oligosaccharides production. Multi-chain elongation is the first part of oligosaccharide production which is replaced by single chain elongation and results in the production of polymer with high molar mass. The characteristics of the products depend on the ratio of transglucosylation and hydrolysis. In addition, some studies show that the structure and specificity of the product generated before in the beginning steps can limit chain elongation (Molina et al., 2019; Moulis et al., 2006).

Glucansucrases have been tested on wide range of acceptors from disaccharides to polysaccharides (McCabe & Smith, 1978) and they are reported to recognize even polyphenols (Meulenbeld et al., 1999), alkyl-glycosides (Richard et al., 2003) or terpenoids (Gerwig et al., 2017) depending on the source and the type of the enzyme. In contrast, compared to glucansucrases, branching sucrases have not been studied on many acceptor molecules. Reported branching sucrases such as  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 2) and  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 3) are active on fructose but they do not recognize maltose even though maltose is preferred by many glucansucrases. Branching sucrases prefer glycosyl chain with  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6) with a minimum four glycosyl units to introduce branches (Meng, Gangoiti, Wang, et al., 2018; Vuillemin et al., 2016).



Figure 1.1 Reactions catalyzed by LAB glucansucrases and branching sucrases (Z. Chen et al., 2021).

#### **1.1.2 Dextransucrases and Products**

Dextransucrases are extracellular enzymes produced by LAB genera such as *Leuconostoc*, *Limosilactobacillus*, *Streptococcus*, *Pediococcus*, and *Weissella* (Monsan et al., 2001). Dextransucrases attracted a strong attention in both food and non-food industries because of their ability to synthetize mostly used polysaccharide such as dextran, using sucrose as substrate (Baruah et al., 2017). In the presence of other sugar molecules in the reaction, dextransucrases can transfer glycosyl groups from sucrose to the non-reducing end of these molecules and resulting in formation of acceptor products (Richard et al., 2003). Dextran is predominantly composed of the main linear chain of  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6) and with different branching points such as  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 2), (1 $\rightarrow$ 3), (1 $\rightarrow$ 4) glycosidic linkage depending on the source of dextransucrase used in synthesis. This change in percentages of different linkages contributes to physicochemical properties of dextran (Patel et al., 2012). Dextransucrases from *Leuconostoc mesenteroides* NRRL B-512F produce dextran with 95%  $\alpha$ -(1-6) and 5% of  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 3) glycosidic linkages branches whereas dextran from *Leuconostoc mesenteroides* NRRL B1299 contains 63%  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6) in backbone chain and 27% of  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 2) and 8% of  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 3) branches (Dols et al., 1998).

#### **1.1.3 Branching sucrase**

Recently branching sucrases were discovered by genome analysis of highly branched dextran producing bacteria. These bacterial species include *Leuconostoc citreum* NRRL B-1299 and *Leuconostoc citreum* NRRL B-742. The comparison of sequence similarities of a new gene with different glucansucrases such as dextransucrase, mutansucrases and alternansucrases have proven a discovery branching sucrase which is specialized introducing  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 2) or  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 3) branches on dextran (Passerini et al., 2015; Vuillemin et al., 2016). From this discovery, numerous studies were conducted to identify other branching sucrases in *Leuconostoc fallax*  KCTC3537 and *A. kunkeeii* EFB6 (Vuillemin et al., 2016). A glucan sucrase produced by *Leuconostoc mesenteroides* BD3749 was suggested to be an intermediate between glucan sucrases and branching sucrases because of their products with  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6)/ $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 4) and  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 3) linkages, in addition to their sequence similarities (Yan et al., 2018).

The interest of studying branching sucrases has led to the characterization of genes that contain two different catalytic domains, one with glucansucrase activity and the other one with branching sucrase activity. In *Ln. citreum* NRRL B-1299, DSR-E contains catalytic domain 1, CD1 which is responsible for dextransucrase activity and the second catalytic domain CD2 that possesses  $\alpha$ - $(1\rightarrow 2)$  branching activity (Fabre et al., 2005). Most recently, *gtfZ* glucansucrase was characterized from *A. kunkeeii* DSM 12361 and contain two catalytic domains one with dextransucrase and the second one was reported to have a branching sucrase activity by introducing  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 3) glucosidic branches on dextran (Meng, Gangoiti, Wang, et al., 2018). These previously described enzymes were proposed to belong in GH70 family in a subfamily referred to as branching sucrase enzymes (Brison et al., 2012; Fabre et al., 2005).

#### 1.2 LAB Glucanotransferases

GH70 glucansucrases synthesize EPS from sucrose, however in recent studies there are several GH70 enzymes identified among LAB which use starches and starch-delivered oligosaccharides as substrates instead of sucrose to synthesize  $\alpha$ -glucan (Bai et al., 2015). LAB glucanotransferases include 4,6-  $\alpha$ -glucanotransferase and 4,3-  $\alpha$ -glucanotransferase (**Figure 1.2**). There is a structural similarity among LAB glucanotransferases and GH70 glucansucrases, but their function is similar to GH13  $\alpha$ -amylases because of their ability to act on starches. They were reported to be evolutionary intermediate of GH13 and GH70 enzymes (Gangoiti et al., 2018; Meng et al., 2016). A comparison of glucansucrases with 4,6-  $\alpha$ -glucanotransferases show

that they share 45% to 50% of their sequence identity but they belong in different GH70 subfamilies (Kralj et al., 2011; Leemhuis et al., 2013).

The first reported LAB glucanotransferase was 4,6- $\alpha$ -glucanotransferases from *Lm. reuteri* 121. This enzyme is able to act on starch-delivered oligosaccharide and synthesize  $\alpha$ -glucans which contain a higher degree of  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6) linkages (Bai et al., 2017). When donor substrates, such as starch and maltooligosaccharides are available, 4,6-  $\alpha$ -glucanotransferase cleaves  $\alpha$ -(1-4) linkages from the non-reducing end of the donor and transfer the glycosyl unit to the non-reducing end of the receptor and forming a new chain of  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6) linkages (Kralj et al., 2011). The reported hydrolytic activity of 4,6-  $\alpha$ -glucanotransferase enzymes is low.

There are other characterized 4,6- $\alpha$ -glucanotransferases enzymes which have the ability to produce isomalto/maltooligosaccharides. These enzymes are GtfML4, GtfX, GtfW and GTFB-E81 characterized from *Lm. reuteri* ML1, *Ligilactobacillus aviarius* subsp. *aviarius* DSM 200655, *Lm. reuteri* DSM 20016 and *Lm. reuteri* E81, respectively (İspirli et al., 2019; Leemhuis et al., 2013; Meng, Gangoiti, de Kok, et al., 2018). Interestingly the 4,6- $\alpha$ -glucanotranferase from *Lm. reuteri* NCC 2613 synthesizes a different product from other characterized 4,6- $\alpha$ -glucanotransferases described above. Instead of producing isomalto/malto polysaccharides with a linear chain, *Lm. reuteri* NCC 2613 4,6- $\alpha$ -glucanotransferases synthesize reuteran like polymer with branches when amylose is used as a substrate (Gangoiti, Van Leeuwen, et al., 2017).

Recently, the genomic analysis of *Limosilactobacillus fermentum* NCC 2970 has led to the identification of 4,3-  $\alpha$ -glucanotransferases with high similarity to *Lm. reuteri* 121 4,6-  $\alpha$ -glucanotransferases; however, the enzyme revealed uniqueness in its product specificity (Gangoiti, van Leeuwen, et al., 2017). This enzyme uses amylose to produce  $\alpha$ -glucan composed

with maltoologosaccharides units connected by  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 3) linkages. The products from 4,3- $\alpha$ -glucanotransferases consist of alternating  $\alpha$ -(1-3) and  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 4) linkages with  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 3,4) branches (Gangoiti, van Leeuwen, et al., 2017).



Figure 1.2 Reactions catalyzed by LAB glucanotransferases (Z. Chen et al., 2021).

# **1.3** Applications: Hydrocolloids, oligosaccharide synthesis, dietary fibre, pharmaceutical applications.

Glucansucrases contribute to the synthesis of important products with various applications in various fields including but not limited to food and pharmaceutical industry. The most widely applied  $\alpha$ -glucan is dextran (Z. Chen et al., 2021). In the food industry, dextran with more than

95%  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6) linear linkages contributes to water solubility of these polysaccharides, which results in their use as viscosifier, stabilizer, and hydrocolloids in food industry (Goulas et al., 2004; Purama & Goyal, 2005). During sourdough fermentation, EPS including dextran has been associated with increasing loaf volume and softness of the bread (Baruah et al., 2017; Katina et al., 2009) and in jam and ice cream, dextran is used as a thickener (McCurdy et al., 1994). Dextran have been reported to enhance the texture of gluten free products (Katina et al., 2009); however, it is important to use *Weissella* that does not produce acetic acid with fructose as electron acceptor (Galle et al., 2010). In multiple food products, dextran has been reported to enhance moisture retention, improve the texture and flavor, and prevent crystallization of sugar (Naessens et al., 2005; Purama & Goyal, 2005, 2008).

Glucansucrases can synthesize functional oligosaccharides when an appropriate acceptor molecule is available (Gangoiti et al., 2020). These oligosaccharides include  $\alpha$ -1,2 branched glucooligosaccharides (Dols al., 1997: Hasselwander et et al.. 2017) and isomaltooligosaccharides (Djouzi et al., 1995). Glucooligosaccharides produced by Ln. citreum NRRL B-1299 possess a linear chain of  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6) with  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 2) branches. An in vivo study by Hasselwander et al. show that the presence of  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 2) branches increases the resistance to digestion (Hasselwander et al., 2017). Isomaltooligosaccharides are partially digestible oligosaccharides with  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6) and  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 4) linkages (Hu et al., 2013).

In addition to functional oligosaccharides, different polysaccharides produced by glucansucrases have been reported to have dietary fibre properties. The products from 4,6- $\alpha$ -glucanotransferase contain a high percentage of  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6) when debranched starches are used as substrates. When potato amylose is available as acceptor, 4,6- $\alpha$ -glucanotransferase synthesize isomalto/malto polysaccharides which contain up to 92% of  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6) linkages and these polysaccharides are considered as soluble dietary fibers as they show resistance to digestion in gastrointestinal tract thus reach colon (Leemhuis et al., 2014). Dextransucrase from *Weissella cibaria* RBA12 produced dextran with 97%  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6) linkages in their main chain and 3%  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 3) branches. In the Baruah et al. (2017) study, dextran showed high resistance to human digestive enzymes but fermented in the colon and stimulated growth of beneficial microbes (Baruah et al., 2017). The presence of the  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6) linkages in the dextran backbone is responsible for this digestion resistance in the gastrointestinal tract of human (Kothari et al., 2015).

#### 1.4 Knowledge Gap

LAB glucansucrases of GH70 family especially dextransucrases have been widely studied. According to (http://www.cazy.org/GH70.html) more than 75% of GH70 enzymes characterized are dextransucrases whereas branching sucrases are underrepresented in this family. In this family, another group of enzymes, glucanotransferases attracted interest because of their ability to use starches and starch-delivered molecules as substrates, thus a large range of substrates have been tested on these enzymes to understand their activity (Z. Chen et al., 2021). In contrast, branching sucrases of GH70 have been studied on a limited number of substrates.

Currently, only six branching sucrases have been characterized and among them, four have a detailed characterization such as DsrE-CD2, Brs-A, Brs-B and GtfZ-CD2 (Brison et al., 2012; Meng, Gangoiti, Wang, et al., 2018a; Passerini et al., 2015; Vuillemin et al., 2016). In addition to the relatively low number of characterized branching sucrases, all the studies have only tested enzymes on sucrose and dextran. There is no reported study demonstrating the activity of branching sucrases on other polysaccharides except dextran. Therefore, there is no available knowledge on how branching sucrase might act in presence of other polysaccharides including amylose and reuteran.

### 1.5 Hypotheses and Objectives

## Hypotheses

- The transferase activity of *A. kunkeei* 12361 dextransucrase and branching sucrase is dependent on the linkage type present in the acceptor.
- A. kunkeei 12361 dextransucrase and branching sucrase is higher in the presence of α-(1→6) over α-(1→4) linkages in the acceptor molecule.
- A. kunkeei 12361 dextransucrases and branching sucrase are active on potato amylose.

## Objectives

• Evaluate the activity of *A. kunkeei* 12361 dextransucrase and branching sucrase on different substrates and understand the influence of linkages available in the acceptor molecule on the enzyme activity.

#### 2 Materials and methods

#### 2.1 Bacterial growth condition and DNA isolation.

*A. kunkeei* DSM 12361 was cultured anaerobically for 48 h at 30 °C in mMRS media containing 10 g/L, 5 g/L glucose and 5 g/L fructose. *A. kunkeei* DSM 12361 DNA was extracted with DNeasy Blood & Tissue Kit (Qiagen, Toronto, ON, Canada). *E. coli* strain DH5 $\alpha$  carrying pET28a(+) plasmid was cultured aerobically for 16 h at 37 °C in Luria broth supplemented with 50 mg/L kanamycin. pET28a(+) bacterial plasmid DNA was extracted with QIAprep Spin Miniprep Kit (Qiagen, Toronto, ON, Canada). *E. coli* BL21 (DE3) containing plasmids pET28a(+) carrying reuteransucrase gtfA, and mutants  $\Delta$ N gtfA (S1135N:A1137S mutation), pET28a+ carrying  $\Delta$ N gtfA (V1024P:V1027I:S1135N:A1137S mutation) (X. Y. Chen et al., 2016) were cultured aerobically for 16 h at 37 °C in Luria broth supplemented with 50 mg/L kanamycin. E. coli BL21 (DE3) with pET28b(+) plasmids carrying branching enzyme *glgB* was cultured aerobically for 16 h at 37 °C Luria broth supplemented with 50 mg/L kanamycin.

#### 2.2 Cloning and transformation

The glucansucrase *gtfZ* gene was identified in *A. kunkeei* DSM 12361 by nucleotide blast from *A. kunkeei* (KRK22577.1) (Meng et al. 2018). Fragments of *gtfZ* such as CD1-GBD (4083bp) and GBD-CD2 (4020bp) (Figure 1) were amplified using the primers pairs shown in **Table 1** and ligated fragments were constructed in pET28a(+) plasmid at XhoI and BamHI restriction sites. PCR amplicons were digested with restriction endonucleases XhoI and BamHI (Thermo Scientific, Ottawa, Canada) and ligated with T4 ligase (Thermo Scientific) according to the manufacturers' protocols, generating the plasmids pET28a(+)-CD-GBD and pET28a(+)-GBD-

CD2. pET28a(+)- CD1-GBD and pET28a(+)-GBD-CD2 were transformed in *E.coli* BL21 star (DE3) (Invitrogen, Toronto, ON, Canada) as described (Meng et al. 2018).

Cloning of chimeric glucansucrases and glucanotransferases was performed by Dr. Julia Bechtner and constructs GBD-GtfZ, SBD-GtfZ, GtfZ-A and GtfZ-B were provided for protein expression. Briefly, GBD-GtfZ resulted from a replacement of glucan-binding domain of the *gtfZ* branching sucrase by the glucan-binding domains of the reuteransucrase of *Lm. reuteri* TMW 1.656. The replacement of glucan-binding domains of the *gtfZ* branching sucrase part were replaced by the glucan-binding domains of the 4,6- $\alpha$ - glucanotransferase of *Lm. reuteri* DSM 20016 resulted in SBD-GtfZ. For GtfZ-A, the catalytic GH70 domain of *gtfZ* branching sucrase was replaced by GH70 catalytic domain of reuteransucrase of *Lm. reuteri* TMW 1.656. GtfZ-B represents the enzyme that results from replacing the catalytic GH70 domain of *gtfZ* branching sucrase with the GH70 catalytic domain of *Lm. reuteri* DSM 20016 4,6- $\alpha$ -glucanotransferase (**Figure 2.2**). **Table 2.1** Primers used in cloning of GtfZ of A. kunkeei DSM12361. The lower-case sequencesrepresent the 5' extension of primers to introduce the restriction site in pET28a+ as indicated.

Primer	Sequence (5' – 3')	Restriction site
CD1-GBD forward primer	ctgtctcgagATTTGTTTCACTTTCACCAA	XhoI
CD1-GBD reverse primer	ccgggatccatgAACAACACATACTATTAT	BamhI
GBD-CD2 forward primer	cctgtctcgagATCATCAAAACTATTTCTATAAG	XhoI
GBD-CD2 reverse Primer	ccgggatccatgAATGTTGAATATGGTTTA	BamhI



**Figure 2.1** Linear representation of the domains in *GtfZ* of *A. kunkeei* DSM 12361 (A). CD1 and CD2 are connected by glucan-binding domain (GBD). An  $\alpha$ -helical bundle is present on the C-terminus of *GtfZ* and 50 amino acid residues on N-terminus with unknown function. The constructs for the his-tagged dextransucrase (CD1-GBD) (B) and branching sucrase (GBD-CD2) (C) are represented in the figure.



**Figure 2.2** Linear representation of domain swapping. Glucan-binding domain of the GtfZ branching sucrase part were replaced by the glucan-binding domains of the reuteransucrase GtfA of *Lm. reuteri* TMW 1.656 (**GtfA-GBD**) (**A**). Glucan-binding domains of the GtfZ branching sucrase part were replaced by the glucan-binding domains of the 4,6- $\alpha$ -glucanotransferase GtfB (**GtfB-GBD**) of *Lm. reuteri* DSM 20016 (**B**). Catalytic GH70 domain of GtfZ branching sucrase was replaced by GH70 catalytic domain of reuteransucrase of *Lm. reuteri* TMW 1.656 (**C**), Catalytic GH70 domain of GtfZ branching sucrase was replaced by GH70 catalytic domain of reuteransucrase (**D**). Every domain swapping construct has his-tag on the C-terminus.

#### 2.3 Protein extraction and purification

Luria broth media supplemented with 50 mg/L kanamycin and 250 mM sorbitol was inoculated with overnight cultures of transformed constructs. The cultures were incubated in a shaking incubator at 37 °C until OD600 nm reached 0.4 - 0.6. Protein expression was induced by 0.2 mM isopyl-B-D-1-thiogalactobapyrnoside and incubated in a shaking incubator at 200 rpm for 12 h at 20 °C. Cells were harvested by centrifugation (5000 rpm, 10 min, 4°C) disrupted by bead beating. Cell debris was removed by centrifugation to obtain the crude protein extracts. Protein extracts were purified by Ni-NTA anion-exchange chromatography using HisPur Ni-NTA Spin Columns (Thermo Scientific, Ottawa, Canada). Protein extract was prepared by mixing with the equilibrium buffer of 10 mM imidazole until two resin-bed volumes and loaded to the equilibrated columns with two resin-bed volume of equilibrium buffer of 10mM imidazole. Protein extracts were washed with 25 mM imidazole and purified protein was eluted with elution buffer of 250 mM imidazole. The SDS page was conducted (Bio-Rad, Mississauga, ON, Canada) to assess the purity of the protein. The same methods were used for chimeric glucansucrases and glucanotransferases. Reuteransucrase GtfA, and mutants  $\Delta N$  gtfA (S1135N:A1137S mutation), pET28a+ carry  $\Delta N$  gtfA (V1024P:V1027I:S1135N:A1137S mutation) were purified as described by (X. Y. Chen et al., 2016). Protein concentration was determined using protein assay reagent (Bio-Rad) and serum albumin was used as standard. Branching enzyme glgB was extracted and purified as described by (Shao et al., 2023).

#### 2.4 Enzyme activity assays

Modified amylose was produced from a reaction of potato amylose with 200 nM *glgB* in 50 mM phosphate buffer (pH 7.4) at 37 °C overnight as by Shao et al. (2023) Reuteran was produced by incubating 200 nM reuteransucrase GtfA with 50 mM sucrose and 20 g/L dextran in 50 mM

acetate buffer (pH 4.84) supplemented with 1 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>. The reaction was conducted at 37 °C overnight. Reuteran from wild type GtfA was produced by incubating dextran and sucrose with the enzyme. For reuteran from mutant GtfA was produced by incubating the mutants GtfA with sucrose.

The total and hydrolytic enzymatic activities were measured by the release of fructose and glucose respectively (Meng, Gangoiti, Wang, et al., 2018) . The transferase activity was calculated by subtracting the hydrolytic activity from total activity. One unit of enzyme activity was defined as the release of 1 µmol of glucose or fructose per min.

Enzyme activity assays for dextransucrase and branching sucrase were conducted at 30 °C in 50 mM acetate buffer (pH 5.42) supplemented with 1 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>. Reactions were conducted with 200 nM enzymes, 50 mM sucrose as a donor substrate and 20 g/L acceptor substrate including dextran, reuteran, reuteranNS, reuteranPINS, modified amylose and amylose (**Table 3**). The reaction conditions for reuteransucrase were similar to dextransucrase and branching sucrase except the buffer pH and incubation temperature were 4.84 and 37 °C, respectively. Samples were collected every 3 min for 15 min and the enzyme was deactivated by heating at 95 °C for 10 min. The concentration of fructose and glucose was measured by the release of NADPH using Glucose and Fructose Assay Kit (Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, ON, Canada).

Acceptor substrates	Linkage %			
	α-(1→4)	<b>α</b> -(1→6)	α-(1→4,6)	
Dextran	-	>95 <sup>a)</sup>		
Reuteran	11	89 <sup>b)</sup>		
ReuteranNS	39	61 <sup>c)</sup>		
ReuteranPINS	51	49 <sup>c)</sup>		
Modified amylose	96		4 <sup>d)</sup>	
Amylose	100	_a)		

Table 2.2 Substrates used in enzymatic reactions and their corresponding linkage types.

<sup>a)</sup> Based on specifications of SigmaAldrich

<sup>b)</sup> Based on NMR analysis.

<sup>c)</sup>(X. Y. Chen et al., 2016)

<sup>d)</sup> (Shao et al., 2023)

#### 2.5 Polysaccharide purification

Polysaccharide purification was achieved by ethanol precipitation and dialysis. Briefly, polysaccharides were precipitated by adding two volumes of 70 % chilled ethanol, followed by centrifugation (5000 rpm, 15 min, 4 °C). The precipitate was redissolved in demineralized water, and two volumes of cold ethanol were added. After centrifugation, the polysaccharide materials were dissolved in demineralized water and purified by dialysis using membrane tubing with molecular weight cut-off 3500 (Spectra/Por 3 membrane tubing; Spectrum Laboratory Inc., Rancho Dominguez, CA, USA) for 28 hours to remove monosaccharides, disaccharides, and oligosaccharides. The final polysaccharides were freeze dried, the amount was determined by measuring the wight of the dry matter and stored at -20 °C for further analysis.

# 2.6 Product Analysis by NMR

Purified polysaccharides from reactions of GtfA with sucrose and modified amylose, GtfA with sucrose and dextran, and GtfA with only sucrose. were exchanged in 99.99 % D<sub>2</sub>O then samples were sent for NMR analysis (NMR Facility, University of Alberta). One dimensional <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra were generated in D<sub>2</sub>O at a probe temperature of 27 °C, and chemical shifts were recorded in parts per million with reference to external acetone at  $\delta$  2.225. Integration of the surface area was used to determine the ratio of different glycosidic linkages.

#### 2.7 Statistical Analysis

Differences in enzyme activities with respect to the substrates (n = 3) were analyzed using oneway analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by Bonferroni test in SAS version 9.4 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA).

#### 3 Results

# 3.1 Cloning and protein purification of dextransucrase, branching sucrase, chimeric glucansucrases and glucanotransferases

Truncated dextransucrase CD1-GBD (amino acid residue 50 - 1410) and branching sucrase GBD-CD2 (amino acid residue 927 – 2264) were cloned from *A. kunkeei* DSM 12361 (**Figure 2.1**). CD1-GBD and GDB-CD2 were successfully expressed in *E. coli* BL21 DE3 star. After purification with Ni-NTA anion-exchange chromatography, SDS-PAGE analysis of CD1-GBD and GBD-CD2 resulted in bands that matched the expected molecular masses of 151 kDa and 148 kDa (**Figure 3.1**). Protein expression of chimeric glucansucrases and glucanotransferases was successful; however, after multiple attempts to purify the protein, no pure band was obtained, therefore no further analysis was performed.



**Figure 3.1** SDS-PAGE of CD1-GBD and GDB-CD2. Lane 1 is the protein ladder, Lane 2 represents CD1-GBD flow through, Lane 3 represents eluted CD1-GBD. Lane 4 is the flow through of GDB-CD2 and Lane 5 is the eluted protein GDB-CD2.
# **3.2** Activity of dextransucrase, branching sucrase and reuteransucrase with different acceptor polymers

Dextransucrase has high transferase activity in presence of dextran and reuteran but not in presence of amylose (**Figure 3.2**). The branching sucrase has high transferase activity with dextran and reuteran but not with amylose (**Figure 3.3**). Reuteransucrase has high transferase activity in presence of dextran, reuteran and amylose (**Figure 3.4**). For both branching sucrase and dextransucrase, the transferase activity was higher when dextran was used as an acceptor molecule compared to when sucrose was used a sole substrate and when reuteran, modified amylose and amylose were used as acceptor substrates (**Figure 3.2** & **3.3**). Reuteransucrase is active on  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 4) and  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6) linked substrates while the dextransucrase and branching sucrase are specific for  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6) linkages. Dextransucrase activity is higher with reuteran than with modified amylose (**Figure 3.2**). Branching sucrase transferase activity is higher with modified amylose compared to when reuteran is available as acceptor molecule (**Figure 3.3**).

A decrease in branching sucrase and dextransucrase activity from reuteran with high percentage of  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6) to the ones with less percentage (**Figure 3.5 & 3.6**). Dextransucrase is more active on reuteran with high percentage  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6) and slightly goes down as the percentage decrease. The decrease is observed for branching sucrase, however the as for dextransucrase. For reuteransucrase, the transferase activity was high to all substrates used (**Figure 3.7**).



**Figure 3.2** Dextransucrase activity (**CD1-GBD**) in the presence of sucrose as sole substrate, and when dextran, reuteran, modified amylose, and amylose are available as acceptor molecules of glycosyl group from sucrose.



**Figure 3.3** Branching sucrase activity (**GBD-CD2**) in the presence of sucrose as sole substrate, and when dextran, reuteran, modified amylose, and amylose are available as acceptor molecules of glycosyl group from sucrose.



Figure 3.4 Reuteransucrase activity (GtfA) in the presence of sucrose as sole substrate, and when dextran, reuteran, modified amylose, and amylose are available as acceptor molecules of glycosyl group from sucrose.



**Figure 3.5** Dextransucrase activity (**CD1-GBD**) when reuteran (88 %  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6)), reuteranNS (61 %  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6)) and reuteranPINS (49 %  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6)) are available as acceptor molecules for glucosyl group from sucrose.



Figure 3.6 Branching sucrase activity (GBD-CD2) when reuteran (88 %  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6)), reuteranNS (61 %  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6)) and reuteranPINS (49 %  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6)) are available as acceptor molecules for glucosyl group from sucrose.



Figure 3.7 Reuteransucrase activity (GtfA) when reuteran (88 %  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6)), reuteranNS (61 %  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6)) and reuteranPINS (49 %  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6)) are available as acceptor molecules for glucosyl group from sucrose.

## 3.3 Polysaccharides <sup>1</sup>H NMR Analysis

Polysaccharide isolated from incubation of GtfA with sucrose and modified amylose, has a high percentage of  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6) compared to  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 4). The  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6) signal is displayed at 4.956 ppm and  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 4) is at 5.297 ppm (**Figure 3.8**). Reuteran synthesized from sucrose has 84 % of  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6) with  $\delta$  4.955 and 16 % of  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 4) with  $\delta$  5. 297 (**Figure 3.9**). When dextran and sucrose were as substrates for GtfA, the polysaccharide produced had 89 % of  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6) (**Figure 3.10**) which is slightly high compared to when *gtfA* reacted with only sucrose (**Figure 3.9**). The signals  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6) and  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 4) were displayed at 4.953 ppm and 5.297 ppm, respectively (**Figure 3.10**).



Figure 3.8 <sup>1</sup>H NMR analysis of isolated polysaccharide produced by incubation of GtfA with sucrose and modified amylose. The  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6) signal is displayed at 4.956 ppm and  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 4) is at 5.297.



**Figure 3.9** <sup>1</sup>H NMR analysis of isolated polysaccharide produced by incubation of GtfA with only sucrose as the substrate, the  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6) signal is displayed at 4.955 ppm and  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 4) with 5. 297 ppm.



**Figure 3.10** <sup>1</sup>H NMR analysis of isolated polysaccharide produced by incubation of GtfA with sucrose and dextran. The signals  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6) and  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 4) were displayed at 4.953 ppm and 5.297 ppm, respectively.

#### 4 Discussion

Although many GH70 glucansucrases have been studied in general, with a majority being dextransucrases, only a few branching sucrases have been characterized. In addition, dextransucrases and reuteransucrases have only been characterized using sucrose as the glucosyl donor and diverse oligosaccharides as acceptors. Different polysaccharides have not been evaluated as acceptor molecules. Likewise, the characterization of branching sucrases to date has only used dextran as an acceptor, and the preference of these enzymes in terms of the linkage type or molecular size of the acceptor molecules remains unknown. To investigate the preferences of dextransucrase and branching sucrase on linkage type and their activity on amylose, enzymatic assays were conducted on a range of substrates with different ratios of a- $(1\rightarrow 6)$  and  $\alpha$ - $(1\rightarrow 4)$  glycosidic linkages. Recently, glucan sucrase GtfZ harboring two catalytic domains, CD1 and CD2 was characterized from A. kunkeeii DSM 12361 and these catalytic domains are interconnected by a glucan-binding domain GBD (Meng, Gangoiti, Wang, et al., 2018). The ability of GBD to bind dextran was previously reported by Brison et al (Brison et al., 2016), CD1 has dextransucrase specificity while CD2 has branching sucrase specificity (Meng, Gangoiti, Wang, et al., 2018). In addition to GtfZ, DsrE of Leuconostoc citreum NRRL 1299 with both dextransucrase and branching sucrase has been characterized. Catalytic domains in GtfZ and DsrE are connected by glucan-binding domain (Fabre et al., 2005; Meng, Gangoiti, Wang, et al., 2018). This domain arrangement suggests that the dextran intermediate product is synthesized by dextransucrase and carried by a glucan-binding domain toward branching sucrase where the branches are introduced (Brison et al., 2016).

In the recent study by (Meng, Gangoiti, Wang, et al., 2018) a dextransucrase construct was created with a combination of CD1 and part of glucan-binding domain, and the branching

sucrase was made of a remaining part of a glucan-binding domain combined with CD2. Contrary, in the current study, the constructs for dextransucrase and branching sucrase was a combination of the glucan binding domain in a full length with catalytic domain responsible for dextransucrase specificity (CD1-GBD) and catalytic domain with branching sucrase activity combined with a glucan binding domain (GBD-CD2) (Figure 3.3). A combination of catalytic domains and glucan binding domain resulted in proteins that were difficult to express under the conditions used in Meng et al. probably because of the high molecular weight of 151 kDa and 148 kDa for CD1-GBD and GBD-CD2, respectively. According to Meng et al. (2018) protein was expressed using the incubation time of 20 h and resulted in protein in inclusion body (Meng, Gangoiti, Wang, et al., 2018). In contrast, lowering the expression time to 12 h and supplementing the medium with 250 mM sorbitol, resulted in a successful expression of CD1-GBD (Figure 3.1).

All reported dextransucrases (**Table 1**) have glucan binding domain on their C-terminal with full repeats. In contrast, the reported branching sucrase have full repeats (Brison et al., 2012; Passerini et al., 2015; Vuillemin et al., 2016) or partial repeats (Meng, Gangoiti, Wang, et al., 2018) of glucan binding domains that are used in binding glucan. However, different small molecules including disaccharides such as maltose and isomaltose are good acceptors for dextransucrase, different from leucrose which is not an acceptor for dextransucrase (Dols et al., 1997; Robyt & Eklund, 1982). Similarly, in one study, branching sucrase GtfZ-CD2 was tested, and it was active on isomaltotriose as acceptor substrate (Meng, Gangoiti, Wang, et al., 2018). The ability of dextransucrase and branching sucrase to transfer glycosyl units to these small molecules shows that the acceptor molecules do not necessarily need to bind to the glucan binding domain of the enzyme, as long as a good substrate is available.

Dextransucrase CD1-GBD had low activity when sucrose was used as a sole substrate compared to when dextran was available in the reaction (Figure 3.2), which suggests that the glucosyl unit from sucrose hydrolysis is being transferred to the dextran to make a high molecular weight polysaccharide. This finding was not expected because dextransucrases were previously shown to be active with only sucrose as sole substrate (Bounaix et al., 2010; Naessens et al., 2005; Rühmkorf et al., 2013). When there is an adequate amount of glucose donor molecule (sucrose), polymerization continues and dextran is formed unless an acceptor molecule causes the release of dextran from the active site (Robyt & Eklund, 1982). Contrary, in this study, it was unusual to notice that the activity of dextransucrase was favored by the presence of dextran in the reaction. The observed unexpected results of dextransucrase activity, where the activity was low with only sucrose compared to when dextran was available might be explained by the kinetics of enzymatic reaction. Briefly, the reaction starts hydrolysis of sucrose which yields glucose and glucose is not a good acceptor. However, as the reaction continues, there is a synthesis of isomaltose which is a suitable acceptor compared to glucose. (Hu et al., 2017). When isomaltose is available as an acceptor substrate, the growing polymer can be extended and contribute to the formation of a high molecular weight polymer. Therefore, conducting a reaction for only 15 min is the main reason for the low dextransucrase activity on sucrose as there might be not enough glucose to glycosylates substrate and growing polymer.

Branching sucrase GBD-CD2 has shown low transferase activity when only sucrose was used as a substrate, mainly hydrolytic activity was dominant (**Figure 3.3**). The GBD-CD2 activity was low because branching sucrase requires the presence of acceptor molecules in order to synthesize polysaccharides and a study by Meng et al has reported that branching sucrase prefer dextran as acceptor, specifically (Meng, Gangoiti, Wang, et al., 2018). The branching sucrase preference of dextran was also observed in our study because compared to other acceptor molecules used in the study, GBD-CD2 activity was high when dextran was available in the reaction. This confirms ability of branching sucrase to transfer glycosyl unit to dextran to form a highly branched dextran (Meng, Gangoiti, Wang, et al., 2018). Depending on the concentration of sucrose in the reaction, sometimes the accumulation of glucose from sucrose hydrolysis can result in a transfer to fructose thus increasing the transferase activity with only sucrose as sole substrate; however, leucrose does not act as an acceptor substrate. Therefore, there will be no synthesis of polysaccharides from leucrose (Vuillemin et al., 2016). Passerini et al reported that with sucrose as sole substates and the branching sucrase BRS-A as catalyse, glucose, leucrose and other oligosaccharides were produced (Passerini et al., 2015). The DsrE branching sucrose catalytic domain did not produce any polymer from sucrose, only sucrose hydrolysis or a formation of leucrose from a transfer of glycosyl residue to the previously produced fructose. Also, DsrE branching sucrase did not show any activity on maltose which is different from other glucansucrases, however the activity was observed when dextran and glucooligosaccharides were used as acceptor substrates (Fabre et al., 2005). This is similar to the recently characterized branching sucrases, as they are not able to synthesize polymers from sucrose alone as a sole substrate (Meng, Gangoiti, Wang, et al., 2018; Vuillemin et al., 2016).

Reuteransucrase transferase activity was not different when sucrose was used as a sole substrate, and when dextran, modified amylose and amylose were used as acceptor molecules (**Figure 3.4**). The reason might be that GtfA is only using sucrose available in the reaction instead of dextran and the activity being observed might be from the synthesis of polysaccharides with similar characteristics as reuteran produced from GtfA and sucrose. The <sup>1</sup>H NMR data show that the polysaccharides from a reaction with dextran and sucrose and GtfA from only sucrose (**Figure** 

**3.9**) were similar; however, for GtfA with dextran and sucrose in the reaction the percentage of  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6) was 89 % (Figure 3.10), a sign that the polysaccharide being synthesized is reuteran even though dextran was used in the reaction as an acceptor substrate. The explanation for this might be that reuteransucrase is already bound to the substrate and starts to synthesize polymer and leaves no space for the dextran to bind. It also shows how sucrose is a good substrate for reuteransucrase (Kralj et al., 2005). In the presence of only sucrose, reuteransucrase GtfO of *Limosilactobacillus* did not convert all sucrose into polymer as 50 % of 100 mM of sucrose were converted into glucose and there was a production of leucrose and isomaltose (Kralj et al., 2005). However, for GtfA a high amount of reuteran is produced when the same concentration of sucrose is used in the reaction (Kralj et al., 2005; Kralj, van Geel-Schutten, van der Maarel, et al., 2004).

The presence of reuteran with 89 %  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6) and 11 %  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 4) (produced from a reaction of GtfA with dextran and sucrose) as acceptor substrate for CD1-GBD resulted in high transferase activity (**Figure 3.2**) which is from the transfer of a glycosyl unit to reuteran. The presence of a good acceptor substate reduce the synthesis of dextran polymer and can even inhibit the formation of dextran as the concentration increases (Seibel & Buchholz, 2010). Even though the transferase activity was observed when GBD-CD2 reacted with reuteran, there is a decrease in activity compared to when dextran was used as acceptor substrate for GBD-CD2. The main possibility could be enzyme preference because of different linkages available in acceptor molecules. As there was a decrease in  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6), the branching sucrase activity decreased. A slight decrease was also observed when GtfA reacted with reuteran and sucrose. The decrease in activity of CD1-GBD and GBD-CD2 was also observed when the different reuterans from mutant GtfA were used in assays (**Figure 3.5 & 3.6**). Compared to when reuteran with 89 %  $\alpha$ -

 $(1\rightarrow 6)$  CD1-GBD showed a decrease activity, when reuteranNS (61 %  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6)) was used and slightly continue to decrease when reuteranPINS (49 %  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6)) were used as an acceptor substrate (**Figure 3.5**). A similar trend was observed when the GBD-CD1 was tested on reuteranNS and reuteranPINS (**Figure 3.6**). This suggests that both GD-CD1 and GBD-CD2 prefer the presence of  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6) in the acceptor molecule because there is a decrease in their transferase activity as the percentage of this linkage decreased.

The enzymes CD1-GBD and GBD-CD2 have shown a very low activity in the presence of amylose with only  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 4); however, when modified amylose with 4 % of  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 4,6) were used, the transferase activity increased (Figure 3.2 & 3.3). Introduction of  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 4,6) in potato amylose made the product preferable to both CD1-GBD and GBD-CD1. The previously studied branching sucrase has shown a high transferase activity on dextran rich in  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6) and small molecule isomaltose (Meng, Gangoiti, Wang, et al., 2018); however, it was not tested on amylose or modified amylose. The results from our study show that CD1-GBD and GBD-CD2 are not able to transfer glucosyl group to amylose but were able to transfer a glucosyl group to modified amylose due to the presence of  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 4,6) in the product. Reuteransucrase gtfA transferase activity was still high for both amylose and modified amylose (Figure 3.4) and the polysaccharide <sup>1</sup>H NMR showed that the product being synthesized is reuteran (Figure 3.10). This proves that reuteransucrase uses only sucrose even though modified amylose is available in reaction. There is no evidence of transfer of glycosyl group to the modified amylose, the observed activity might be from a transfer of glycosyl unit to growing polymer to form reuteran. Reuteransucrase has been tested on small acceptor molecules, such as maltose and isomaltose, as acceptors and reuteransucrase prefers maltose over isomaltose for the acceptor reaction (Kralj et al., 2005). The preference of maltose (with  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 4)) over isomaltose might predict that reuteransucrase can be active on amylose as well because it has a high percentage of  $\alpha$ -(1→4); however, it seems that the size of the molecule might play a role in being recognized or rejected by reuteransucrase as acceptor.

Reported dextransucrases generally include glucan binding domain (Table 1) and studies suggested that the glucan binding domain is necessary for the activity (Brison et al., 2016; Moulis et al., 2006). Data in this study showed that dextran binding increases activity of dextransucrases and branching sucrase (Figure 3.3). It was suggested that manipulating acceptor specificity by swapping glucan binding domains from different proteins. Domain swapping did not result in a successful purification, which might be because of not having his-tag well attached to the protein fragment of interest. It is suggested to sequence the construct before proceeding with protein expression and purification to confirm the presence of his-tag. In addition, changing the his-tag to a different terminal might make it accessible and result in successful purification. The intention to perform domain swapping was to assess the responsibility of glucan binding domain and catalytic domain on branching sucrase activity. If the activity stays the same on a good acceptor such as dextran when the branching sucrase glucan binding domain was replaced by either reuteransucrase glucan binding domain, or 4,6-α-glucanotransferase glucan binding domain (Figure 2.2 A & B) would confirm that the catalytic domain is the one responsible for the activity. The responsibility of branching sucrose glucan-binding domain would be evaluated by replacing branching sucrase catalytic domain by reuteransucrase catalytic domain and 4,6-aglucanotransferase catalytic domain (Figure 2.2 C & D). If the reuteransucrase with the glucan binding domain from the branching sucrase is active on dextran and reuteran, or if  $4,6-\alpha$ glucanotransferase with the glucan binding domain from branching sucrase is active on starch, it

would show that the branching sucrase glucan-binding domain binds glucans with different linkage proportions and then the catalytic domain would be responsible for the specificity.

#### **5** Application

The ability of dextransucrases, branching sucrases and reuteransucrase to act on different substrates is important in their application in food and non-food industry. Low molecular weight dextrans are used in clinical application (Patel et al., 2012) while high molecular weight soluble dextrans are used in food as versifier, solubilizer and hydrocolloids (Goulas et al., 2004). The transfer of glycosyl unit to dextran by CD1-GBD and introduction of branches on dextran by GBD-CD2 is beneficial because different degree of branching and chain length offer a wide range of applications depending on the polymer properties. Similarly, producing various reuterans with different proportions of linkage types can result in diversifying their applications. Reuteran with 61 % of  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6) has been reported to improve bread volume and texture (Chen et al., 2016) whereas highly branched reuterans have shown the ability to form biofilm in vivo (Walter et al., 2008). In addition, depending on properties of the polysaccharides produced by these enzymes, some have been reported to have dietary fibre properties. For example, *Weissella cibaria* RBA12 produce dextran with 97 %  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6) linkages in their main chain and 3 %  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 3) branches (Baruah et al., 2017).

Even though sucrose is a disaccharide composed of glucose and fructose, only glucosyl units are involved in the synthesis dextran and reuteran which results in a loss of 50 % total sucrose molecule. In this study, the transferase activity of dextransucrase and branching sucrase was observed when modified amylose were used as acceptor substrate. The ability of CD1-GBD and GBD-CD2 to use modified amylose would be cheaper than using sucrose in the reaction as there

would be no loss because every component of starch delivered molecules would contribute to polysaccharide synthesis. The modified potato amylose used in this study has 4 % of  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 4,6) linkages and it was preferred by CD1-GBD and GBD-CD2 compared to when amylose with 100 %  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 4) were used as acceptor substrate. However, there are other enzymes such as 4,6- $\alpha$ -glucanotransferases that can produce starch derived products with a high percentage of  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6) such as isomalto/maltooligosaccharides (İspirli et al., 2019; Leemhuis et al., 2013; Meng, Gangoiti, de Kok, et al., 2018). Therefore, this study suggests that the starch derived products with high percentage of  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6) would be preferred by branching sucrase and dextransucrases as these enzymes showed a high preference for  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6) linkages in the acceptor molecule. In addition, starch derived products from glucanotransferases which contain up to 92 % of  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6) linkages have been reported to have resistance to digestion in gastrointestinal tract and are considered as soluble dietary fibers (Leemhuis et al., 2014). Therefore, the ability of branching sucrase to act on these products would introduce new branching points and may result in lowering the carbohydrate digestibility.

The findings from this study prove that the transferase activity of *A. kunkeei* 12361 dextransucrase and branching sucrase is dependent on the linkage type present in the acceptor. It is also confirmed that *A. kunkeei* 12361 dextransucrase and branching sucrase activity is higher in the presence of  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 6) compared to  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 4) linkages in the acceptor molecule. However, the third hypothesis was not proven to be true because the *A. kunkeei* 12361 dextransucrases and branching sucrase are not active on potato amylose. The activity was observed after the modification of potato amylose by introducing  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 4,6) branching points.

### **Bibliography**

- Amari, M., Arango, L. F. G., Gabriel, V., Robert, H., Morel, S., Moulis, C., Gabriel, B., Remaud-Siméon, M., & Fontagné-Faucher, C. (2013). Characterization of a novel dextransucrase from *Weissella confusa* isolated from sourdough. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 97(12), 5413–5423. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00253-012-4447-8
- Arguello-Morales, M. A., Remaud-Simeon, M., Pizzut, S., SarAşabal, P., Willemot, R.-M., & Monsan, P. (2000). Sequence analysis of the gene encoding alternansucrase, a sucrose glucosyltransferase from *Leuconostoc mesenteroides* NRRL B-1355. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, 182(1), 81–85. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1574-6968.2000.TB08878.X
- Bai, Y., Gangoiti, J., Dijkstra, B. W., Dijkhuizen, L., & Pijning, T. (2017). Crystal structure of 4,6-α-glucanotransferase supports diet-driven evolution of GH70 enzymes from α-amylases in oral bacteria. *Structure*, 25(2), 231–242. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.STR.2016.11.023
- Bai, Y., van der Kaaij, R. M., Jacob Woortman, A. J., Jin, Z., & Dijkhuizen, L. (2015).
  Characterization of the 4,6-α-glucanotransferase GTFB enzyme of *Lactobacillus reuteri* 121 isolated from inclusion bodies. *BMC Biotechnology*, 15(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/S12896-015-0163-7/FIGURES/6
- Baruah, R., & Goyal, A. (2022). Exopolysaccharides from lactic acid bacteria in fermented foods and beverages. *Lactic Acid Bacteria in Food Biotechnology*, 305–317. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-89875-1.00016-X
- Baruah, R., Maina, N. H., Katina, K., Juvonen, R., & Goyal, A. (2017). Functional food applications of dextran from *Weissella cibaria* RBA12 from pummelo (Citrus maxima).

International Journal of Food Microbiology, 242, 124–131. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJFOODMICRO.2016.11.012

- Bounaix, M. S., Gabriel, V. R., Morel, S., Robert, H., Rabier, P., Remaud-Sime On, M., Gabriel,
  B., & Fontagne -Faucher, C. (2009). Biodiversity of exopolysaccharides produced from sucrose by sourdough lactic acid bacteria. *J. Agric. Food Chem*, 57, 10889–10897. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf902068t
- Bounaix, M. S., Robert, H., Gabriel, V., Morel, S., Remaud-Siméon, M., Gabriel, B., & Fontagné-Faucher, C. (2010). Characterization of dextran-producing *Weissella* strains isolated from sourdoughs and evidence of constitutive dextransucrase expression. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, 311(1), 18–26. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1574-6968.2010.02067.X
- Bowen, W. H., & Koo, H. (2011). Biology of Streptococcus mutans-derived glucosyltransferases: role in extracellular matrix formation of cariogenic biofilms. Caries Research, 45(1), 69. https://doi.org/10.1159/000324598
- Brison, Y., Fabre, E., Moulis, C., Portais, J. C., Monsan, P., & Remaud-Siméon, M. (2010). Synthesis of dextrans with controlled amounts of alpha-1,2 linkages using the transglucosidase GBD-CD2. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 86(2), 545–554. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00253-009-2241-Z
- Brison, Y., Malbert, Y., Czaplicki, G., Mourey, L., Remaud-Simeon, M., & Tranier, S. (2016). Structural insights into the carbohydrate binding ability of an α-(1→2) branching sucrase from glycoside hydrolase family 70. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 291(14), 7527. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.M115.688796

- Brison, Y., Pijning, T., Malbert, Y., Fabre, É., Mourey, L., Morel, S., Potocki-Véronèse, G., Monsan, P., Tranier, S., Remaud-Siméon, M., & Dijkstra, B. W. (2012). Functional and structural characterization of α-(1→2) branching sucrase derived from DSR-E glucansucrase. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 287(11), 7915–7924. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.M111.305078
- Cantarel, B. I., Coutinho, P. M., Rancurel, C., Bernard, T., Lombard, V., & Henrissat, B. (2009).
   The carbohydrate-active enzymes database (CAZy): an expert resource for glycogenomics.
   *Nucleic Acids Research*, 37(Database issue). https://doi.org/10.1093/NAR/GKN663
- Chen, X. Y., Levy, C., & Gänzle, M. G. (2016). Structure-function relationships of bacterial and enzymatically produced reuterans and dextran in sourdough bread baking application. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 239, 95–102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2016.06.010
- Chen, Z., Ni, D., Zhang, W., Stressler, T., & Mu, W. (2021). Lactic acid bacteria-derived αglucans: From enzymatic synthesis to miscellaneous applications. *Biotechnology Advances*, 47, 107708. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIOTECHADV.2021.107708
- Djouzi, Z., Andrieux, C., Pelenc, V., Somarriba, S., Popot, F., Paul, F., Monsan, P., & Szylit, O. (1995). Degradation and fermentation of α-gluco-oligosaccharides by bacterial strains from human colon: in vitro and in vivo studies in gnotobiotic rats. *Journal of Applied Bacteriology*, 79(2), 117–127. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1365-2672.1995.TB00924.X
- Dols, M., Remaud-Simeon, M., Willemot, R. M., Vignon, M., & Monsan, P. (1998).
   Characterization of the different dextransucrase activities excreted in glucose, fructose, or sucrose medium by *Leuconostoc mesenteroides* NRRL B-1299. *Applied and*

*Environmental Microbiology*, *64*(4), 1298. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.64.4.1298-1302.1998

- Dols, M., Simeon, M. R., Willemot, R. M., Vignon, M. R., & Monsan, P. F. (1997). Structural characterization of the maltose acceptor-products synthesized by *Leuconostoc mesenteroides* NRRL B-1299 dextransucrase. *Carbohydrate Research*, 305(3–4), 549–559. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0008-6215(97)10063-5
- Duar, R. M., Frese, S. A., Lin, X. B., Fernando, S. C., Burkey, T. E., Tasseva, G., Peterson, D. A., Blom, J., Wenzel, C. Q., Szymanski, C. M., & Walter, J. (2017). Experimental evaluation of host adaptation of *Lactobacillus reuteri* to different vertebrate species. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 83(12). https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00132-17
- Fabre, E., Bozonnet, S., Arcache, A., Willemot, R. M., Vignon, M., Monsan, P., & Remaud-Simeon, M. (2005). Role of the two catalytic domains of dsr-E dextransucrase and their involvement in the formation of highly α-1,2 branched dextran. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *187*(1), 296–303. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.187.1.296-303.2005
- Fernandes, T., Bhavsar, C., Sawarkar, S., & D'souza, A. (2017). Current and novel approaches for control of dental biofilm. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2017.11.019
- Ferretti, J. J., Gilpin, M. L., & Russell, R. R. B. (1987). Nucleotide sequence of a glucosyltransferase gene from *Streptococcus sobrinus* MFe28. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 169(9), 4271. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.169.9.4271-4278.1987

- Frese, S. A., Benson, A. K., Tannock, G. W., Loach, D. M., Kim, J., Zhang, M., Oh, P. L., Heng, N. C. K., Patil, P. B., Juge, N., MacKenzie, D. A., Pearson, B. M., Lapidus, A., Dalin, E., Tice, H., Goltsman, E., Land, M., Hauser, L., Ivanova, N., ... Walter, J. (2011). The evolution of host specialization in the vertebrate gut symbiont *Lactobacillus reuteri*. *PLoS Genetics*, 7(2). https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PGEN.1001314
- Frese, S. A., MacKenzie, D. A., Peterson, D. A., Schmaltz, R., Fangman, T., Zhou, Y., Zhang, C., Benson, A. K., Cody, L. A., Mulholland, F., Juge, N., & Walter, J. (2013). Molecular characterization of host-specific biofilm formation in a vertebrate gut symbiont. *PLOS Genetics*, 9(12), e1004057. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PGEN.1004057
- Fujiwara, T., Hoshino, T., Ooshima, T., Sobue, S., & Hamada, S. (2000). Purification, characterization, and molecular analysis of the gene encoding glucosyltransferase from *Streptococcus oralis. Infection and Immunity*, 68(5), 2475–2483. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.68.5.2475-2483.2000
- Funane, K., Mizuno, K., Takahara, H., & Kobayashi, M. (2000). Gene encoding a dextransucrase-like protein in *Leuconostoc mesenteroides* NRRL B-512F. *Bioscience, Biotechnology, and Biochemistry*, 64(1), 29–38. https://doi.org/10.1271/BBB.64.29
- Galle, S., Schwab, C., Arendt, E., & Gänzle, M. (2010). Exopolysaccharide-forming Weissella strains as starter cultures for sorghum and wheat sourdoughs. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 58(9), 5834–5841. https://doi.org/10.1021/JF1002683
- Gangoiti, J., Corwin, S. F., Lamothe, L. M., Vafiadi, C., Hamaker, B. R., & Dijkhuizen, L. (2020). Synthesis of novel α-glucans with potential health benefits through controlled

glucose release in the human gastrointestinal tract. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 60(1), 123–146. https://doi.org/10.1080/10408398.2018.1516621

- Gangoiti, J., Pijning, T., & Dijkhuizen, L. (2018). Biotechnological potential of novel glycoside hydrolase family 70 enzymes synthesizing α-glucans from starch and sucrose.
   *Biotechnology* Advances, 36(1), 196–207.
   https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIOTECHADV.2017.11.001
- Gangoiti, J., van Leeuwen, S. S., Gerwig, G. J., Duboux, S., Vafiadi, C., Pijning, T., & Dijkhuizen, L. (2017). 4,3-α-Glucanotransferase, a novel reaction specificity in glycoside hydrolase family 70 and clan GH-H. *Scientific Reports*, 7. https://doi.org/10.1038/SREP39761
- Gangoiti, J., Van Leeuwen, S. S., Meng, X., Duboux, S., Vafiadi, C., Pijning, T., & Dijkhuizen,
  L. (2017). Mining novel starch-converting Glycoside Hydrolase 70 enzymes from the
  Nestlé Culture Collection genome database: The *Lactobacillus reuteri* NCC 2613 GtfB. *Scientific Reports 2017 7:1*, 7(1), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-07190-z
- Gerwig, G. J., te Poele, E. M., Dijkhuizen, L., & Kamerling, J. P. (2017). Structural analysis of rebaudioside A derivatives obtained by *Lactobacillus reuteri* 180 glucansucrase-catalyzed trans-α-glucosylation. *Carbohydrate Research*, 440–441, 51–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CARRES.2017.01.008
- Gilmore, K. S., Russell, R. R. B., & Ferretti, J. J. (1990). Analysis of the Streptococcus downei gtfS gene, which specifies a glucosyltransferase that synthesizes soluble glucans. Infection and Immunity, 58(8), 2452. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.58.8.2452-2458.1990

- Goulas, A. K., Fisher, D. A., Grimble, G. K., Grandison, A. S., & Rastall, R. A. (2004). Synthesis of isomaltooligosaccharides and oligodextrans by the combined use of dextransucrase and dextranase. *Enzyme and Microbial Technology*, 35(4), 327–338. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENZMICTEC.2004.05.008
- Han, X., Yang, Z., Jing, X., Yu, P., Zhang, Y., Yi, H., & Zhang, L. (2016). Improvement of the texture of yogurt by use of exopolysaccharide producing lactic acid bacteria. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/7945675
- Hanada, N., Isobe, Y., Aizawa, Y., Katayama, T., Sato, S., & Inoue, M. (1993). Nucleotide sequence analysis of the gtfT gene from *Streptococcus sobrinus* OMZ176. *Infection and Immunity*, 61(5), 2096. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.61.5.2096-2103.1993
- Hasselwander, O., DiCosimo, R., You, Z., Cheng, Q., Rothman, S. C., Suwannakham, S., Baer,
  Z. C., Roesch, B. M., Ruebling-Jass, K. D., Lai, J. P., Hurteau, R. E., Marquez, M. L.,
  Kopatsis, A. D., Ouwehand, A. C., Forssten, S. D., Mukerji, P., Caverly Rae, J. M., Dragan,
  Y. P., Damewood, J. R., ... Ibarra, A. (2017). Development of dietary soluble fibres by
  enzymatic synthesis and assessment of their digestibility in in vitro, animal and randomised
  clinical trial models. *International Journal of Food Sciences and Nutrition*, 68(7), 849–864.
  https://doi.org/10.1080/09637486.2017.1295027
- Hayakawa, M., Fukushima, K., Abiko, Y., Ikeda, T., & Takiguchi, H. (1993). Cloning of a *Streptococcus sobrinus* oligo-isomaltosaccharide synthase gene and characterization of its product. *Biochemistry and Molecular Biology International*, 31(6), 1167–1175. https://europepmc.org/article/med/8193601

- Hoshino, T., Fujiwara, T., & Kawabata, S. (2012). Evolution of cariogenic character in *Streptococcus mutans*: horizontal transmission of glycosyl hydrolase family 70 Genes. *Scientific Reports*, 2. https://doi.org/10.1038/SREP00518
- Hu, Y., Ketabi, A., Buchko, A., & Gänzle, M. G. (2013). Metabolism of isomaltooligosaccharides by *Lactobacillus reuteri* and *bifidobacteria*. *Letters in Applied Microbiology*, 57(2), 108–114. https://doi.org/10.1111/LAM.12076
- Hu, Y., Winter, V., Chen, X. Y., & Gänzle, M. G. (2017). Effect of acceptor carbohydrates on oligosaccharide and polysaccharide synthesis by dextransucrase DsrM from *Weissella cibaria*. *Food Research International*, *99*, 603–611. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODRES.2017.06.026

Hutkins, R. W. (2018). Microbiology and Technology of Fermented Foods. 618.

- İspirli, H., Şimşek, Ö., Skory, C., Sağdıç, O., & Dertli, E. (2019). Characterization of a 4,6-α-glucanotransferase from Lactobacillus reuteri E81 and production of maltooligosaccharides with immune-modulatory roles. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, *124*, 1213–1219. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJBIOMAC.2018.12.050
- Kang, H. K., Oh, J. S., & Kim, D. (2009). Molecular characterization and expression analysis of the glucansucrase DSRWC from *Weissella cibaria* synthesizing a α(1→6) glucan. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, 292(1), 33–41. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1574-6968.2008.01460.X
- Katina, K., Maina, N. H., Juvonen, R., Flander, L., Johansson, L., Virkki, L., Tenkanen, M., & Laitila, A. (2009). In situ production and analysis of *Weissella confusa* dextran in wheat sourdough. *Food Microbiology*, 26(7), 734–743. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FM.2009.07.008

- Kothari, D., Tingirikari, J. M. R., & Goyal, A. (2015). In vitro analysis of dextran from *Leuconostoc mesenteroides* NRRL B-1426 for functional food application. *Bioactive Carbohydrates and Dietary Fibre*, 6(2), 55–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BCDF.2015.08.001
- Koutsoumanis, K., Allende, A., Alvarez-Ordóñez, A., Bolton, D., Bover-Cid, S., Chemaly, M., Davies, R., de Cesare, A., Hilbert, F., Lindqvist, R., Nauta, M., Peixe, L., Ru, G., Simmons, M., Skandamis, P., Suffredini, E., Cocconcelli, P. S., Fernández Escámez, P. S., Prieto-Maradona, M., ... Herman, L. (2022). Update of the list of QPS-recommended biological agents intentionally added to food or feed as notified to EFSA 15: suitability of taxonomic units notified EFSA until September 2021. EFSA Journal. 20(1).to https://doi.org/10.2903/J.EFSA.2022.7045
- Kralj, S., Grijpstra, P., van Leeuwen, S. S., Leemhuis, H., Dobruchowska, J. M., van der Kaaij,
  R. M., Malik, A., Oetari, A., Kamerling, J. P., & Dijkhuizen, L. (2011). 4,6-αGlucanotransferase, a novel enzyme that structurally and functionally provides an evolutionary link between glycoside hydrolase enzyme families 13 and 70. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 77(22), 8154. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.05735-11
- Kralj, S., Stripling, E., Sanders, P., Van Geel-Schutten, G. H., & Dijkhuizen, L. (2005). Highly hydrolytic reuteransucrase from probiotic *Lactobacillus reuteri* strain ATCC 55730. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 71(7), 3942.
  https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.71.7.3942-3950.2005
- Kralj, S., van Geel-Schutten, G. H., Dondorff, M. M. G., Kirsanovs, S., van der Maarel, M. J. E.C., & Dijkhuizen, L. (2004). Glucan synthesis in the genus *Lactobacillus*: isolation and

characterization of glucansucrase genes, enzymes and glucan products from six different strains. *Microbiology (Reading, England)*, *150*(Pt 11), 3681–3690. https://doi.org/10.1099/MIC.0.27321-0

- Kralj, S., Van Geel-Schutten, G. H., Rahaoui, H., Leer, R. J., Faber, E. J., Van der Maarel, M. J. E. C., & Dijkhuizen, L. (2002). Molecular characterization of a novel glucosyltransferase from *Lactobacillus reuteri* strain 121 synthesizing a unique, highly branched glucan with α-(1→4) and α-(1→6) glucosidic bonds. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 68(9), 4283. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.68.9.4283-4291.2002
- Kralj, S., van Geel-Schutten, G. H., van der Maarel, M. J. E. C., & Dijkhuizen, L. (2004). Biochemical and molecular characterization of *Lactobacillus reuteri* 121 reuteransucrase. *Microbiology*, 150(7), 2099–2112. https://doi.org/10.1099/MIC.0.27105-0
- Leemhuis, H., Dobruchowska, J. M., Ebbelaar, M., Faber, F., Buwalda, P. L., van der Maarel, M. J. E. C., Kamerling, J. P., & Dijkhuizen, L. (2014). Isomalto/malto-polysaccharide, a novel soluble dietary fiber made via enzymatic conversion of starch. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 62(49), 12034–12044. https://doi.org/10.1021/JF503970A
- Leemhuis, H., Pijning, T., Dobruchowska, J. M., van Leeuwen, S. S., Kralj, S., Dijkstra, B. W.,
  & Dijkhuizen, L. (2013). Glucansucrases: three-dimensional structures, reactions,
  mechanism, α-glucan analysis and their implications in biotechnology and food
  applications. *Journal of Biotechnology*, *163*(2), 250–272.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JBIOTEC.2012.06.037

- Li, X. J., Yue, L. Y., Guan, X. F., & Qiao, S. Y. (2008). The adhesion of putative probiotic lactobacilli to cultured epithelial cells and porcine intestinal mucus. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 104(4), 1082–1091. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1365-2672.2007.03636.X
- Lynch, K. M., Zannini, E., Coffey, A., & Arendt, E. K. (2018). Lactic acid bacteria exopolysaccharides in foods and beverages: isolation, properties, characterization, and health benefits. *Annual Review of Food Science and Technology*, 9, 155–176. https://doi.org/10.1146/ANNUREV-FOOD-030117-012537
- MacGregor, E. A., Jespersen, H. M., & Svensson, B. (1996). A circularly permuted α-amylasetype α/β-barrel structure in glucan-synthesizing glucosyltransferases. *FEBS Letters*, 378(3), 263–266. https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-5793(95)01428-4
- Marco, M. L., Heeney, D., Binda, S., Cifelli, C. J., Cotter, P. D., Foligné, B., Gänzle, M., Kort, R., Pasin, G., Pihlanto, A., Smid, E. J., & Hutkins, R. (2017). Health benefits of fermented foods: microbiota and beyond. *Current Opinion in Biotechnology*, 44, 94–102. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.COPBIO.2016.11.010
- McCabe, M. M., & Smith, E. E. (1978). The dextran acceptor reaction of dextransucrase from *Streptococcus mutans* K1-R. *Carbohydrate Research*, 63(C), 223–239. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0008-6215(00)80946-5
- McCurdy, R. D., Goff, H. D., & Stanley, D. W. (1994). Properties of dextran as a cryoprotectant in ice cream. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 8(6), 625–633. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0268-005X(09)80069-6

- Meng, X., Gangoiti, J., Bai, Y., Pijning, T., van Leeuwen, S. S., & Dijkhuizen, L. (2016). Structure-function relationships of family GH70 glucansucrase and 4,6-αglucanotransferase enzymes, and their evolutionary relationships with family GH13 enzymes. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences : CMLS*, 73(14), 2681–2706. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00018-016-2245-7
- Meng, X., Gangoiti, J., de Kok, N., van Leeuwen, S. S., Pijning, T., & Dijkhuizen, L. (2018). Biochemical characterization of two GH70 family 4,6-α-glucanotransferases with distinct product specificity from *Lactobacillus aviarius* subsp. *aviarius* DSM 20655. *Food Chemistry*, 253, 236–246. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODCHEM.2018.01.154
- Meng, X., Gangoiti, J., Wang, X., Grijpstra, P., van Leeuwen, S. S., Pijning, T., & Dijkhuizen, L.
  (2018). Biochemical characterization of a GH70 protein from *Lactobacillus kunkeei* DSM
  12361 with two catalytic domains involving branching sucrase activity. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, *102*(18), 7935–7950. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-0189236-6
- Meulenbeld, G. H., Zuilhof, H., Van Veldhuizen, A., Van Den Heuvel, R. H. H., & Hartmans, S. (1999). Enhanced (+)-catechin transglucosylating activity of *Streptococcus mutans* GS-5 glucosyltransferase-D due to fructose removal. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 65(9), 4141–4147. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.65.9.4141-4147.1999
- Molina, M., Moulis, C., Monties, N., Pizzut-Serin, S., Guieysse, D., Morel, S., Cioci, G., & Remaud-Siméon, M. (2019). Deciphering an undecided enzyme: investigations of the structural determinants involved in the linkage specificity of alternansucrase. *ACS*

Catalysis,

https://doi.org/10.1021/ACSCATAL.8B04510/SUPPL FILE/CS8B04510 SI 001.PDF

- Monchois, V., Remaud-Simeon, M., Monsan, P., & Willemot, R.-M. (1998). Cloning and sequencing of a gene coding for an extracellular dextransucrase (DSRB) from *Leuconostoc mesenteroides* NRRL B-1299 synthesizing only a alpha (1-6) glucan. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, 159(2), 307–315. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1574-6968.1998.TB12876.X
- Monchois, V., Remaud-Simeon, M., Russell, R. R. B., Monsan, P., & Willemot, R. M. (1997).
   Characterization of *Leuconostoc mesenteroides* NRRL B-512F dextransucrase (DSRS) and identification of amino-acid residues playing a key role in enzyme activity. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 48(4), 465–472. https://doi.org/10.1007/S002530051081
- Monchois, V., Willemot, R. M., Remaud-Simeon, M., Croux, C., & Monsan, P. (1996). Cloning and sequencing of a gene coding for a novel dextransucrase from *Leuconostoc mesenteroides* NRRL B-1299 synthesizing only alpha (1-6) and alpha (1-3) linkages. Gene, 182(1-2), 23–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1119(96)00443-X
- Monsan, P., Bozonnet, S., Albenne, C., Joucla, G., Willemot, R. M., & Remaud-Siméon, M. (2001). Homopolysaccharides from lactic acid bacteria. *International Dairy Journal*, 11(9), 675–685. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0958-6946(01)00113-3
- Mooser, G., Hefta, S. A., Paxton, R. J., Shively, J. E., & Lee, T. D. (1991). Isolation and sequence of an active-site peptide containing a catalytic aspartic acid from two *Streptococcus sobrinus* alpha-glucosyltransferases. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 266(14), 8916–8922. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9258(18)31531-X

- Moulis, C., Joucla, G., Harrison, D., Fabre, E., Potocki-Veronese, G., Monsan, P., & Remaud-Simeon, M. (2006). Understanding the polymerization mechanism of glycoside-hydrolase family 70 glucansucrases. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 281(42), 31254–31267. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0021-9258(19)84038-3
- Mozzi, F., Vaningelgem, F., Hébert, E. M., Van Der Meulen, R., Moreno, M. R. F., Font De Valdez, G., & De Vuyst, L. (2006). Diversity of heteropolysaccharide-producing lactic acid bacterium strains and their biopolymers. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 72(6), 4431. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02780-05
- Naessens, M., Cerdobbel, A., Soetaert, W., & Vandamme, E. J. (2005). Leuconostoc dextransucrase and dextran: production, properties and applications. Journal of Chemical Technology & Biotechnology, 80(8), 845–860. https://doi.org/10.1002/JCTB.1322
- Neubauer, H., Bauché, A., & Mollet, B. (2003). Molecular characterization and expression analysis of the dextransucrase DsrD of *Leuconostoc mesenteroides* Lcc4 in homologous and heterologous *Lactococcus lactis* cultures. *Microbiology (Reading, England)*, 149(Pt 4), 973–982. https://doi.org/10.1099/MIC.0.26029-0
- Oh, P. L., Benson, A. K., Peterson, D. A., Patil, P. B., Moriyama, E. N., Roos, S., & Walter, J. (2010). Diversification of the gut symbiont *Lactobacillus reuteri* as a result of host-driven evolution. *The ISME Journal*, 4(3), 377–387. https://doi.org/10.1038/ISMEJ.2009.123
- Olvera, C., Fernández-Vázquez, J. L., Ledezma-Candanoza, L., & López-Munguía, A. (2007). Role of the C-terminal region of dextransucrase from *Leuconostoc mesenteroides* IBT-PQ in cell anchoring. *Microbiology (Reading, England)*, 153(Pt 12), 3994–4002. https://doi.org/10.1099/MIC.0.2007/008854-0

- Passerini, D., Vuillemin, M., Ufarté, L., Morel, S., Loux, V., Fontagné-Faucher, C., Monsan, P., Remaud-Siméon, M., & Moulis, C. (2015). Inventory of the GH70 enzymes encoded by *Leuconostoc citreum* NRRL B-1299 - Identification of three novel α-transglucosylases. *FEBS Journal*, 282(11), 2115–2130. https://doi.org/10.1111/FEBS.13261
- Patel, S., Majumder, A., & Goyal, A. (2012). Potentials of exopolysaccharides from lactic acid Bacteria. *Indian Journal of Microbiology*, 52(1), 3. https://doi.org/10.1007/S12088-011-0148-8
- Purama, R. K., & Goyal, A. (2005). Dextransucrase production by *Leuconostoc mesenteroides*. *Indian Journal of Microbiology*, 45(2), 89–101.
- Purama, R. K., & Goyal, A. (2008). Identification, effective purification and functional characterization of dextransucrase from *Leuconostoc mesenteroides* NRRL B-640. *Bioresource Technology*, 99(9), 3635–3642. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIORTECH.2007.07.044
- Richard, G., Morel, S., Willemot, R. M., Monsan, P., & Remaud-Simeon, M. (2003). Glucosylation of α-butyl- and α-octyl-D-glucopyranosides by dextransucrase and alternansucrase from *Leuconostoc mesenteroides*. *Carbohydrate Research*, 338(9), 855– 864. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0008-6215(03)00070-3
- Robyt, J. F. (1995). Mechanisms in the glucansucrase synthesis of polysaccharides and oligosaccharides from sucrose. Advances in Carbohydrate Chemistry and Biochemistry, 51(C), 133–168. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2318(08)60193-6

- Robyt, J. F., & Eklund, S. H. (1982). Stereochemistry involved in the mechanism of action of dextransucrase in the synthesis of dextran and the formation of acceptor products. *Bioorganic Chemistry*, 11(2), 115–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/0045-2068(82)90024-4
- Rühmkorf, C., Bork, C., Mischnick, P., Rübsam, H., Becker, T., & Vogel, R. F. (2013).
  Identification of *Lactobacillus curvatus* TMW 1.624 dextransucrase and comparative characterization with *Lactobacillus reuteri* TMW 1.106 and *Lactobacillus animalis* TMW 1.971 dextransucrases. *Food Microbiology*, 34(1), 52–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FM.2012.11.002
- Sato, S., Inoue, M., Hanada, N., Aizawa, Y., Isobe, Y., & Katayama, T. (2009). DNA sequence of the glucosyltransferase gene of serotype d *Streptococcus sobrinus*. *Http://Dx.Doi.Org/10.3109/10425179309015618*, 4(1), 19–27. https://doi.org/10.3109/10425179309015618
- Seibel, J., & Buchholz, K. (2010). Tools in oligosaccharide synthesis: current research and application. Advances in Carbohydrate Chemistry and Biochemistry, 63, 101–138. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2318(10)63004-1
- Shao, Y., Wang, W., Hu, Y., & Gänzle, M. G. (2023). Characterization of the glucan-branching enzyme GlgB gene from swine intestinal bacteria. *Molecules*, 28(4). https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules28041881
- Shimamura, A., Nakano, Y. J., Mukasa, H., & Kuramitsu, H. K. (1994). Identification of amino acid residues in *Streptococcus mutans* glucosyltransferases influencing the structure of the glucan product. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *176*(16), 4845–4850. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.176.16.4845-4850.1994

- Shinozaki-Kuwahara, N., Takada, K., & Hirasawa, M. (2008). Sequence and phylogenetic analyses of novel glucosyltransferase genes of mutans streptococci isolated from pig oral cavity. *Journal of Microbiology (Seoul, Korea)*, 46(2), 202–208. https://doi.org/10.1007/S12275-007-0199-Z
- Shiroza, T., Ueda, S., & Kuramitsu, H. K. (1987). Sequence analysis of the gtfB gene from Streptococcus mutans. Journal of Bacteriology, 169(9), 4263. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.169.9.4263-4270.1987
- Siedler, S., Balti, R., & Neves, A. R. (2019). Bioprotective mechanisms of lactic acid bacteria against fungal spoilage of food. *Current Opinion in Biotechnology*, 56, 138–146. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.COPBIO.2018.11.015
- Simpson, C. L., Cheetham, N. W. H., Giffard, P. M., & Jacques, N. A. (1995). Four glucosyltransferases, GtfJ, GtfK, GtfL and GtfM, from *Streptococcus salivarius* ATCC 25975. *Microbiology (Reading, England)*, 141 ( Pt 6)(6), 1451–1460. https://doi.org/10.1099/13500872-141-6-1451
- Torino, M. I., de Valdez, G. F., & Mozzi, F. (2015). Biopolymers from lactic acid bacteria. Novel applications in foods and beverages. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 6(JUL), 834. https://doi.org/10.3389/FMICB.2015.00834/BIBTEX
- Van Kranenburg, R., Vos, H. R., Van Swam, I. I., Kleerebezem, M., & De Vos, W. M. (1999). Functional analysis of glycosyltransferase genes from *Lactococcus lactis* and other grampositive cocci: complementation, expression, and diversity. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *181*(20), 6347–6353. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.181.20.6347-6353.1999
- Vickerman, M. M., Sulavik, M. C., Nowak, J. D., Gardner, N. M., Jones, G. W., & Clewell, D.
  B. (1997). Nucleotide sequence analysis of the *Streptococcus gordonii* glucosyltransferase gene, gtfG. *DNA Sequence : The Journal of DNA Sequencing and Mapping*, 7(2), 83–95. https://doi.org/10.3109/10425179709020155
- Vuillemin, M., Claverie, M., Brison, Y., Séverac, E., Bondy, P., Morel, S., Monsan, P., Moulis, C., & Remaud-Siméon, M. (2016). Characterization of the first α-(1→3) branching sucrases of the GH70 family. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 291(14), 7687–7702. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.M115.688044
- Walter, J., Britton, R. A., & Roos, S. (2011). Host-microbial symbiosis in the vertebrate gastrointestinal tract and the *Lactobacillus reuteri* paradigm. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 108 Suppl 1(Suppl 1), 4645–4652. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1000099107
- Walter, J., Schwab, C., Loach, D. M., Gänzle, M. G., & Tannock, G. W. (2008). Glucosyltransferase A (GtfA) and inulosucrase (Inu) of Lactobacillus reuteri TMW1.106 contribute to cell aggregation, in vitro biofilm formation, and colonization of the mouse gastrointestinal tract. *Microbiology (Reading, England)*, 154(Pt 1), 72–80. https://doi.org/10.1099/MIC.0.2007/010637-0
- Xu, D., Hu, Y., Wu, F., Jin, Y., Xu, X., & Gä, M. G. (2020). Comparison of the functionality of exopolysaccharides produced by sourdough lactic acid bacteria in bread and steamed bread.
   *J. Agric. Food Chem*, 68, 8907–8914. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.0c02703

- Yalin, Y., Jin, L., Jianhua, W., Da, T., & Zigang, T. (2008). Expression and characterization of dextransucrase gene dsrX from *Leuconostoc mesenteroides* in *Escherichia coli*. *Journal of Biotechnology*, 133(4), 505–512. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JBIOTEC.2007.12.002
- Yan, M., Wang, B. hua, Xu, X., Chang, P., Hang, F., Wu, Z., You, C., & Liu, Z. (2018). Molecular and functional study of a branching sucraselike glucansucrase reveals an evolutionary intermediate between two subfamilies of the GH70 enzymes. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 84(9). https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02810-17
- Zhang, H., Hu, Y., Zhu, C., Zhu, B., & Wang, Y. (2008). Cloning, sequencing and expression of a dextransucrase gene (dexYG) from *Leuconostoc mesenteroides*. *Biotechnology Letters*, 30(8), 1441–1446. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10529-008-9711-8